ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Opinion No. 2016-UP-382 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 27, 2016)

10-CP-10-03782  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

NOV 20 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DARRELL L. GOSS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002186

\_\_\_\_\_  
BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's denial of petitioner's PCR application because petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel was violated by trial counsel's failure to investigate and present an alibi defense?

## STATEMENT

On September 10, 2007, petitioner Darrell L. Goss (“Goss”) was indicted in Charleston County for Kidnapping, Armed Robbery, and Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill. App. 703-08. Along with his co-defendant, Joy Mack (“Mack”), Goss was tried before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson on February 23 – 26, 2009. Goss was represented by James Smiley. Mack was represented by Alex Apostolou. Trip Lawton and Kevin Hales represented the State. The jury convicted Goss and Mack. App. 1. Judge Nicholson sentenced Goss to twenty years’ imprisonment on each conviction, to run concurrently. App. 561, l. 18 – 562, l. 7. Goss’s convictions were affirmed by the Court of Appeals. State v. Goss, No. 2011-UP-214 (May 17, 2011); App. 589.

On May 27, 2011, Goss filed his PCR application. App. 591. The State filed a Return and Charles Brooks was appointed to represent Goss. On September 16, 2011, a hearing was held before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. App. 621. The State was represented by Matthew S. Friedman. On December 1, 2011, Judge Jefferson issued an Order of Dismissal denying Goss’s application. App. 689.

Goss filed a petition for certiorari which the Court of Appeals granted on November 21, 2014. App. from Ct. App. 1. After additional briefing, the court heard oral argument on March 7, 2016. App. from Ct. App. 3. Judges Short, Thomas, and Geathers sat on the panel. App. from Ct. App. 3. On July 27, 2016, the Court of Appeals affirmed the PCR court in a *per curiam* unpublished opinion. App. from Ct. App. 3. On September 26, 2016, the court denied the petition for rehearing. App. from Ct. App. 11. This Court granted certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's denial of petitioner's PCR application because petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel was violated by trial counsel's failure to investigate and present an alibi defense.

### Introduction

Despite trial counsel's admission that he had no knowledge of petitioner's alibi defense and four witnesses who would have testified that petitioner was at a baby shower during the crime, the trial court found trial counsel was not ineffective. The PCR court only reached this conclusion by speculating about potential trial strategies. Such speculation is not permitted. Before an attorney can be credited with a reasonable trial strategy, he must have first performed an adequate investigation. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003). See also Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014). Trial counsel performed no investigation and therefore could have no strategic reason for not calling alibi witnesses to defend petitioner against the State's wholly circumstantial case.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's denial of relief.

### Factual Background

Petitioner's co-defendant, Joy Mack ("Mack"), was identified by the proprietor of the Urban Gear clothing store in North Charleston as the armed robber. App. 170, ll. 6 – 16. Mack was one of five people who robbed the store. App. 169, ll. 2 – 8. None of the men's faces were covered or masked. App. 96, l. 25 – 97, l. 2. The proprietor, Aytakin Ayazgok, known as "Andy," did not identify Goss as one of the robbers. App. 176, ll. 3 – 8. When Andy was shown

---

<sup>1</sup> Trial counsel was disciplined by this Court in 2014. In the Matter of James Watson Smiley, IV, 409 S.C. 256, 762 S.E.2d 28 (2014).

a lineup, he identified Goss as a customer, but not one of his assailants. App. 204, l. 20 – 205, l. 8.

Andy testified that at approximately 7:30 PM, as he was closing the store, he saw five young black males enter the store. App. 169, ll. 2 – 12. Andy testified that Mack took an AK-47 out of his pants, pointed it at him and told him to get down. App. 171, ll. 14 – 22. The assailants dragged Andy and another worker who did not testify (“David”) to the back office and bound them. App. 174, ll. 1 – 6. Andy and David were both beaten in the back of the head with the butt of the gun. App. 172, ll. 15 – 24. Andy and David eventually got loose and called 911. App. 175, ll. 17 – 20. The robbers took their wallets. They also took clothing and shoes from the store, although Andy never made a list of the items that were stolen. App. 198, ll. 18 – 24.

Andy was shown a photo lineup that included Goss. Andy recognized Goss as a customer who had shopped in his store before the robbery. App. 204, ll. 6 – 15. **Andy did not identify Goss as being in the store during the robbery.** App. 205, ll. 6 – 8. At trial, Andy identified Mack as the assailant with the AK-47.<sup>2</sup> Andy never saw Mack and Goss together. App. 206, ll. 3 – 5. In their investigation after the robbery, the police lifted a latent fingerprint from the exterior of the store’s glass door. App. 315, ll. 1 – 8. The police testified that the print was still wet, probably from sweat. App. 315, ll. 1 – 8. However, they made no attempt to collect any DNA samples from the print. Instead, they fanned the print with a card until it was dry, destroying any possible DNA evidence that could have been gathered from the print. App. 315, ll. 9 – 19. The police did not take a photo of the print on the door. App. 304, ll. 1 – 12.

Based on a tip from an informant who evaded a subpoena and did not testify at trial, the police compared the print from the door with Goss’s fingerprints. The State’s fingerprint

---

<sup>2</sup> The sole basis for Mack’s conviction was Andy’s identification. No physical evidence tied Mack to the crime, to Goss, or to any member of Goss’s family.

identification expert testified that the print matched Goss's prints. The State's fingerprint expert admitted there is no way to tell the age of a fingerprint. App. 331, ll. 12 – 14.

Based on the fingerprint identification, the police executed a search warrant at the Goss residence the day after the robbery. App. 363, ll. 15 – 17. Ten people lived at the Goss residence. App. 462, l. 8 – 464, l. 3. The police found some clothes and tags that resembled items that came from Andy's store. App. 323, ll. 2 – 12. However, Andy admitted that some of the items and tags found did not come from his store, such as hats and sunglasses. App. 207, l. 19 – 208, l. 10.

In a car registered to Sharon Goss, petitioner's brother, the police found other clothing in the trunk and a revolver under the front seat. App. 322, ll. 6 – 21. The gun was sent to SLED for processing because blood appeared to be inside the barrel. The SLED DNA analyst testified that the blood found in the barrel of the gun came from Andy. It was the mixture of DNA of two people. SLED did not have enough DNA information on the second person to develop a profile. App. 403, ll. 16 – 25. Andy testified that he was only struck with the butt of a rifle and not with a handgun. App. 203, ll. 8 – 13.

From processing the scene and the evidence collected at the Goss residence, the police found latent prints at the cash register area, the metal display rods, the door frames, the shoeboxes, the grand opening banner, the gun, and a pair of sunglasses found inside the Goss residence. Out of all these latent prints found, the only one that was identified as belonging to Goss was the one from the exterior door. App. 331, l. 15 – 334, l. 15.

The only defense witness who testified was Thomasina Goss ("Thomasina"), petitioner's mother. She testified that she bought the clothes from men who were selling clothing on her street the same afternoon the search warrant was executed. App. 468, ll. 1 – 21. She bought a

lot of pants, some shirts, hats, and gloves for her children. She realized that these clothes were probably stolen. App. 469, ll. 11 – 22. Thomasina was impeached with two convictions of giving false information to the police and a shoplifting conviction. App. 464, ll. 15 – 24.

### **The PCR Hearing**

At Goss's PCR hearing, Goss testified that trial counsel represented him for two years prior to trial and only met with him one time to discuss a plea agreement. App. 631, l. 24 – 632, l. 24. Trial counsel never interviewed him about the case and never discussed witnesses or the evidence against him. App. 632, ll. 6 – 24. Trial counsel told Goss, "Don't tell me anything. . . . don't tell me anything about the case because whatever you tell me, I'm stuck with." App. 633, ll. 2 – 4. Goss and trial counsel both agreed that Goss became very upset with Smiley during this meeting and words were exchanged.

Goss presented the visitor's log from the jail that showed Mr. Smiley visited him and another person on January 4, 2009, from 8:05 to 8:40. App. 612-14. The log showed no other meetings. Goss also entered two letters he wrote trial counsel into evidence at the PCR hearing. The first was dated June 15, 2008, and stated that Goss had yet to meet with Smiley. App. 611. The second was dated January 5, 2009, and apologized for the prior night's confrontation, but expressed his concern that Smiley had not given him copies of his discovery material to review. App. 615. Goss eventually filed a complaint with Chief Justice Toal regarding trial counsel's refusal to provide him with his discovery material. App. 598-99. Goss testified that was the last time he saw Smiley until the trial. App. 633, ll. 8 – 12.

Goss wanted trial counsel to present an alibi defense. Goss was at his son's baby shower the night of the robbery. App. 634, ll. 18 – 23. Goss stated that had trial counsel visited him and interviewed him, "I would have told Mr. Smiley that I was at my son's baby shower on the

date this crime happened. I would have told Mr. Smiley that, but I was never afforded an opportunity to do so.” App. 634, ll. 18 – 23.

Goss testified at the PCR hearing that he gave trial counsel a list of his alibi witnesses at jury selection. App. 633, l. 13 – 14, l. 7. App. 638, l. 18 – 641, l. 19. Goss’s testimony at the PCR hearing is corroborated by the trial transcript. App. 17, l. 1 – 19, l. 9. During voir dire, the trial judge asked the venire whether they knew two of petitioner’s witnesses: Angelique Gadsden and Clifford Hartwell. App. 17, ll. 1 – 25. Smiley even corrected the trial judge’s pronunciation of Ms. Gadsden’s first name. App. 17, l. 18.

To substantiate his alibi defense at the PCR hearing, Goss was ready to present the testimony of Gadsden, Lucretia Douglas, Bernard Godfrey, and Felicia Henderson. App. 642, ll. 8 – 14. Goss first stated he wanted to offer the affidavit of his brother and was interrupted by the PCR judge who told him, “We only take live testimony because the state can’t cross-examine affidavits.” App. 642, ll. 2 – 5. Goss then told the court that Gadsden, Godfrey, Henderson, and Douglas were present and ready to testify. App. 642, ll. 8 – 14. The PCR court again interrupted and asked if these witnesses at the baby shower were related to Goss. App. 642, l. 19 – 643, l. 9. The PCR judge then stated:

THE COURT: The Court takes judicial notice that those individuals, if they had been called to testify, would have testified that he was, in fact, at this event, which he has call—which—the baby shower. Is that acceptable to the state?

MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. BROOKS: Is Your Honor taking notice in lieu of me calling them to the stand?

THE COURT: Yeah, because I assume they’re going to say there was a baby shower at this location and he was there from 7:00 to 9:00.

MR. BROOKS: I have affidavits here.

THE COURT: I will enter it as a stipulation as to what their testimony would be.

MR. BROOKS: There won't be any need to call them to the stand.

THE COURT: No, I assume—I have no reason to doubt what he's saying, that they would all testify that they were there with him at the baby shower.

MR. BROOKS: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: From 7:00 to 9:00.

App. 643, l. 13 – 644, l. 8.

The court then took judicial notice that Sharon Goss, petitioner's brother, would testify that he bought the clothes and the gun from "some guys that were down the street." App. 644, l. 16 – 645, l. 16. The court also took judicial notice that Hartwell would testify that he witnessed this transaction. App. 644, l. 16 – 645, l. 16. The State did not object to the court taking judicial notice of Sharon Goss or Hartwell's testimony. App. 645, ll. 12 – 15. Sharon Goss was at trial and was ready to testify but was not called as a witness by trial counsel. App. 639, l. 23 – 645, l. 14.

Trial counsel was the only other witness at the PCR Hearing. He admitted to communication problems with Goss. He admitted that a long period of time passed where he did not meet with Goss. App. 655, ll. 3 – 6. He said, "And, yes, Darrell and I could have communicated better, and I will take responsibility for my part of that...." App. 662, ll. 18 – 20. He had no clear recollection or specific memory of going over the discovery in this case with Goss. 658, ll. 22 – 25. He said he did not discuss the facts of the case in any detail with Goss. App. 665, ll. 1 – 4. He said he was focused on defeating the State's circumstantial case. App. 665, ll. 1 – 4.

Trial counsel's investigation in this case was limited to receiving the discovery from the State. He did not interview any witnesses nor did he hire an investigator. App. 665, ll. 18 – 25. Trial counsel did not know about Sharon Goss purchasing the pistol from the people who sold the clothes and putting it in his car. App. 656, ll. 22 – 25. But he admitted that he knew about some of the witnesses who would testify regarding the individuals selling clothes on the street. App. 656, ll. 20 – 23.

Trial counsel's testimony regarding the alibi defense was as follows:

- "I didn't know about an alibi. I'm not saying there wasn't one, I didn't know about one, and if I should have known about that, I'm wrong. First time I've heard about alibi, it was after the case was tried. If that's my fault, it's my fault." App. 656, ll. 12 – 16.
- "If there was an alibi I didn't know about it, all right, and it's my fault for not knowing about it." App. 660, ll. 18 – 20.
- "I wasn't prepared for an alibi defense because I didn't know about it, and, again, that's my fault. I'm wrong. I'll make it clear." App. 665, ll. 13 – 16.

Even though Goss was incarcerated from the time of his arrest until trial, Mr. Smiley stated that even if he had known potential alibi witnesses existed, he would have put the burden on Goss to go find the witnesses and have them come to his office. Regarding this strategy, he said, "It didn't happen, and if it was my fault, I was wrong." App. 672, ll. 12 - 17.

### **The PCR Court's Order**

Despite taking judicial notice that petitioner had four witnesses who would give him an alibi defense, the PCR court denied relief. The court stated that it "had the opportunity to observe each witness at the hearing, and to closely pass upon his or her credibility." App. 690-91. It also re-stated its decision to take judicial notice of petitioner's witnesses' testimony. App.

691-92. It made a favorable finding as to trial counsel's credibility and an adverse finding as to petitioner's credibility. App. 696.

The court then held that counsel "adequately conferred with Applicant, conducted a proper investigation, reviewed the discovery with Applicant, and was thoroughly competent in his representation." App. 696. The court also held that "counsel made a valid strategic decision to only call Applicant's mother as a witness at trial." App. 696. The court found that applicant did not give counsel his alibi witnesses until after the trial and that even if Smiley had known about them, it would have made no difference because the witnesses "were family or had a prior criminal record." App. 698.

### **The Court of Appeals' Opinion**

The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished *per curiam* opinion. App. from Ct. App. 3. The court appears to credit trial counsel with a reasonable strategic decision and that his investigation was sufficient. App. from Ct. App. 4.

### **Discussion**

Nothing in the record supports any assertion that trial counsel investigated Goss's alibi defense which makes a reasonable strategic decision a legal impossibility. In a post-conviction relief proceeding, a petitioner may be granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel if he shows: (1) that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466, U.S. 668 (1984). To prove prejudice petitioner must show that there was a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would be different. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A "reasonable probability" is

simply a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. See Johnson v. State 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

Trial counsel admitted that he should have discovered the existence of his client's alibi. He admitted that he failed to discuss the facts of the case with Goss and that he conducted no investigation. Without conducting any investigation or without any knowledge of the alibi, trial counsel could not have made a reasonable strategic decision to abandon an alibi defense. Strategic choices of trial counsel are entitled to deference, but such decisions must be made after thorough investigation of the facts of the case. Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003). As trial counsel admitted, he did not conduct an investigation to determine the validity of an alibi defense, so no reasonable strategic decision could be made.

Trial counsel also made the extraordinary admission at the PCR hearing that he would not have investigated petitioner's alibi defense even if he had discovered it. App. 671, l. 24 – 673, l. 5. PCR counsel asked if he knew about the alibi witnesses, would he have hired an investigator. App. 671, l. 24 – 673, l. 5. Trial counsel replied:

A. I would tell you that **I wouldn't have gotten an investigator because I didn't have any funds in the case**, but would I have done something?

Q. That's the next question. Would have you gone—for instance, one of the people the Court has taken judicial notice is Lucretia. If you had talked to Lucretia, is it fair to say Lucretia might have said A, B, and C were also there?

A. It's fair to say, **instead of going out and searching her, if I had known about the alibi, I would say, Darrell, get them to my office, because that's what I have done in the past when I'm on limited funds. If they want to testify, get into my office.** It didn't happen, and if it was my fault, I was wrong.

App. 672, ll. 4 – 17 (emphasis added). Goss, of course, was incarcerated from the time of his arrest until his trial and could not round up witnesses for his own attorney. Trial counsel essentially admitted he abdicated his duty to investigate Goss's case.

Trial counsel's failure to investigate Goss's alibi is similar to Walker. In Walker, the attorney failed to interview or contact the defendant's alibi witness. Walker at 403-04, 756 S.E.2d at 146. The witness would have testified that the defendant spent every weekend with her during the time period when the rape occurred. Id. The Court held that one component of an attorney's duty is "to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, **and the failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable.**" Id. at 405, 756 S.E.2d at 147 (emphasis added). Here, trial counsel failed to discuss the case or prepare the case for trial with petitioner. Petitioner tried in vain to get trial counsel to call his witnesses as is corroborated by the voir dire at jury selection, but trial counsel ignored him and his witnesses. This failure to investigate is unreasonable and cannot form the basis for any reasonable strategic decision.

In Putnam v. State, 417 S.C. 252, 789 S.E.2d 594 (Ct. App. 2016), trial counsel performed deficiently when he failed to serve subpoenas on witnesses to secure their attendance at trial. Putnam at 264-66, 789 S.E.2d at 600-01. In Martinez v. State, 304 S.C. 39, 403 S.E.2d 113 (1991), counsel was also deficient for failing to secure the presence of an alibi witness with a subpoena. Martinez at 41, 403 S.E.2d at 113-14. If failing to secure the attendance of witnesses that counsel discovered at trial is deficient performance, then failing to find the witnesses in the first place must also be deficient performance.

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding this finding because trial counsel failed to conduct any investigation that would have allowed him to make a reasonable strategic decision about an alibi. Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 521-22. Trial counsel repeatedly testified he did not know about an alibi defense. App. 656, ll. 12 – 16. App. 660, ll. 18 – 20. App. 665, ll. 13 – 16. "At a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent

investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331-32, 642 S.E.2d 590; 597 (2007) (internal quotations omitted).

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