ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 20 2017

Certiorari to the Court of Appeal

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-002186

DARRELL L. GOSS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

RASHEEDA N. CLEVELAND  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 102673

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the PCR court's ruling where the record contains probative evidence to support the PCR court's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate or present an alibi defense.**

Petitioner contends this Court should reverse Petitioner's convictions and grant a new trial because the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's denial of Petitioner's PCR application. Specifically, Petitioner asserts that Counsel's performance was ineffective in that Counsel failed to investigate or present an alibi defense. However, the PCR court found that Counsel "conducted a proper investigation" and was "thoroughly competent in his representation." (App. p. 688). The PCR court also found that Counsel made "a valid strategic decision" by only calling Petitioner's mother as a witness at trial. However, Petitioner maintains the PCR court only reached its conclusion by speculating about potential trial strategies. Yet, such a contention is refuted by Counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld the PCR court's denial of relief because probative evidence exists to support its finding that Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving ineffective assistance of Counsel. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the PCR court and the Court of Appeals.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner was prepared to call alibi witnesses Angelique Gaskins, Lucretia Douglas, Bernard Godfrey, and Felicia Henderson. However, the PCR court took judicial notice that those individuals were present and would testify that Petitioner was at his son's baby shower between the hours of 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 p.m. on the night of the crime, which occurred at approximately 7:30 p.m. (App. pp. 644-45). The Court also took judicial notice of the testimony of two other witnesses who were also present at the PCR hearing: (1) Clifton Hartwell, Petitioner's younger brother, who would have testified that he witnessed his mother,

Thomasina Goss, and his cousin, Sharon Goss, purchase the stolen clothing from guys who were selling the clothing in front of the family's home, and (2) Sharon Goss, Petitioner's cousin, would have testified he was with Petitioner's mother when she bought the stolen clothes and that he purchased a gun from the same group that was selling the clothes and placed it in his car. (App. p. 639-40, 645). Counsel testified he did not recall any information about Sharon Goss purchasing the pistol and placing it in the car, and that if he had known about it, he would have elicited that testimony from Goss's mother. (App. pp. 656-57). Counsel testified he knew there were others who could have testified about the clothes being sold on the street, but that he used Thomasina Goss because, even though she had a record, he felt she was "persuasive and told the event very well." (App. p. 657).

Counsel testified he did not know about an alibi and the first time he heard about it was after trial. (App. p. 656). Counsel also acknowledged that he and Petitioner had trouble communicating, but that he did review discovery with him and discussed with him his theory of the case. (App. p. 665). Counsel testified he remembered going over discovery with Petitioner. (App. p. 658). Counsel testified that as a general policy when he has a client that is incarcerated he does not give them a copy but he goes over every page of discovery with his client. (App. p. 658). Counsel testified that he was unable to hire an investigator because Petitioner could not afford it. (App. p. 672).

Counsel testified it was a circumstantial case, (App. p. 659), and that there were three major pieces of evidence: a palm print on the glass door of the store, a gun containing the victim's DNA evidence in it that was recovered from an automobile in the Goss family's front yard, and many items of clothing with tags still attached that were found inside the Goss family home. (App. p. 653). He testified he felt they had "defeated" each piece of evidence through

cross-examination and the testimony of Thomasina Goss. (App. pp. 659-60.). He testified he felt they had “defeated the gun”, and if he had known or heard about Sharon purchasing the gun, it would have been something to consider, but he did not know if he would have called him regardless. (App. p. 659). He stated he would have probably asked the question of Thomasina while she was on the stand, but that it was hard to overcome that there was a gun with the victim's DNA on it in a car in the yard of the residence, even though he felt he had established the vehicle was not in Petitioner's possession or control. (App. p. 659). Counsel further testified he used Thomasina to explain all the clothes. (App. p. 659).

Counsel stated he and Petitioner did not have a discussion about any potential alibi defense and that he thought they “could defeat the case with circumstantial evidence.” (App. p. 660). He stated he told Petitioner his theory of the case and felt he was prepared for trial.

Counsel also testified:

As far as putting up other people to testify to the same thing that Thomasina had, strategically, to put her up there, she actually had a little bit of a record, but [she] speaks very well, and she came through. The other people were bolstering, to a certain degree, but that's not why I didn't put them up. It's my belief the more you put out there, they start pitting your people against each other, and I had a strong . . . witness who testified. So I didn't call—again . . . if I had known about the alibi, and if it was my fault of not knowing—and I can tell you, we had difficulty communicating. . . .

I felt like, because it was circumstantial, and the three points that we had put up good, solid defense to each of those circumstances, and so even if I had had the alibi, unless it was airtight, I don't know if I, strategically, would have put it up there because you live and die by your alibi, and I thought we had a pretty . . . good case in defense[.]

(App. pp. 660, 662). Finally, Counsel testified he could not speculate as to whether he would have raised an alibi defense because “[he] thought [they] had what [they] needed to beat the circumstantial elements of the case[.]” and that he “tend[s] not to put up an alibi unless [he] really [has] to.” (App. p. 667). Counsel also stated that he thinks “there is always skepticism

when a family member testifies,” but that, with respect to Thomasina Goss's testimony, she spoke well and was convincing, and that when he went over the testimony with her, he felt confident in what she was going to testify to and that it was going to be convincing. (App. p. 668). He further testified that she never mentioned the purchase of the gun by Sharon Goss, and that would have been very significant to him, but that even if he had known, putting Sharon on the stand would have given him “a little concern.” (App. p. 668). He also agreed it was possible it still would have implicated Petitioner due to the fact they were related. (App. p. 669). Counsel stated that he very rarely uses an alibi because the jury “only listen[s] to the rest of the case if your alibi fails, and we had a good circumstantial defense.” (App. p. 671). Counsel also testified that based on his knowledge of the potential alibi witnesses who were also members of the Goss family had criminal records but he could not testify as to whether their records would have discounted their testimony. (App. p. 671).

Petitioner testified that he met with Counsel one time prior to his trial and that he never talked to Counsel about his case prior to trial. (App. p. 632). Petitioner testified that he gave Counsel the names of several potential witnesses during the jury selection process of the trial. (App. p. 633). He testified had Counsel interviewed him prior to trial, he would have given him the names of Sharon Goss, Benny Goss, Clifford Hartwell, and Angelique Gadsden (App. p. 633). He testified that Benny Goss, Clifford Hartwell, and Angelique Gadsden would have testified that they witnessed individuals selling clothes on the street to his mother Thomasina Goss. (App. p. 633). He testified that Sharon Goss would have testified that he purchased the gun found in the car outside of the Petitioner's home that contained the victim's DNA from the individuals selling clothes on the street. (App. p. 640). Petitioner said he never discussed his alibi defense with Counsel. (App. p. 651-52). Lastly, Petitioner testified he would have told

Counsel that he was at his son's baby shower on the day of the crime. (App. p. 634). To further corroborate his testimony, Petitioner attempted to enter into evidence a picture of the club where the baby shower was held. (App. p. 646). However, Petitioner was not in the photograph, and the Court ruled that the photo had no relevance. (App. p. 647).

In denying Petitioner's relief, the PCR court found Counsel made a valid strategic decision to only call Petitioner's mother, Thomasina Goss, as a witness at trial, and that he was not ineffective for not calling Sharon Goss or other named witnesses at trial. (App. p. 696-97). The court also found that neither Petitioner nor Petitioner's mother informed Counsel of a potential alibi defense. (App. p. 697). In addition, the court found Counsel's testimony credible that he had trouble communicating with Petitioner, and that it was "implausible" that neither Petitioner nor any of his family members found a way to inform Counsel of a potential alibi if one in fact existed. (App. pp. 697-98). Moreover, the PCR court found credible Counsel's testimony that "even if he knew about a potential alibi, he would not have presented an alibi defense unless it was airtight." (App. p. 698). The record unambiguously supports the PCR court's finding.

The record contains ample evidence of probative value to support the PCR court's finding that Counsel effectively investigated the Petitioner's case, was never informed of the alibi defense or the purchase of the gun by Sharon, and made a strategic decision to only call Petitioner's mother to testify because he felt her testimony was convincing. A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel does not have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record shows a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290 (2010). To establish counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial, an applicant must present evidence of

what counsel could have discovered or what other defenses could have been pursued had counsel more fully prepared. Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998). Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Counsel is not required to interview every potential witness if he can articulate reasonable grounds for not doing so. Edwards v. State, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64-65, 392 S.C. 449, 457 (2011). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Counsel gave credible testimony that he investigated Petitioner's case, and believed he could defeat each piece of circumstantial evidence presented by the State. At trial, Counsel attempted to defeat the fingerprint evidence by showing that the State's expert witness could not testify as to the specific location and age of the fingerprint or that the substance characterized as sweat was ever tested for DNA evidence. (App. pp. 481-482). Concerning the gun found in the car located at the Goss family home, Counsel attempted to defeat this evidence by establishing that there was no connection between Petitioner, the car, or the gun. (App. pp. 483-484). Counsel also attempted to defeat the State's evidence regarding the stolen clothing by establishing that the clothing were found in a room that was not Petitioner's, and with testimony from Petitioner's mother that she purchased the items from some unidentified males on the street. (App. p. 484). Counsel also gave credible testimony that he reviewed the discovery and was able to put together a defense he felt was very strong.

In addition, Counsel clearly articulated a valid trial strategy for calling Thomasina Goss and not others to testify at trial. Counsel testified that he knew of others who witnessed the Petitioner's mother purchasing clothing from men on the street after the robbery, but that it was a part of his trial strategy to call Petitioner's mother to testify. He testified that he chose to call Thomasina as a witness at trial because she was very convincing, spoke very well, and would be able to tell the story of the event very well. In Jackson, the Court held that counsel's choice to call one witness over another because he believed his testimony would be more credible was a valid trial strategy. 329 S.C. 345, 351-52, 495 S.E.2d 768, 771 (1998). Here, Counsel articulated the same rationale for calling Thomasina Goss to testify over the other witnesses regarding the purchasing of the clothing.

Moreover, Thomasina Goss' testimony was the same as the potential witnesses presented by Petitioner at the PCR hearing and therefore would have been cumulative if presented at trial, and thus would not have affected the outcome. In Cherry, that Counsel's failure to ensure presence of defense witness did not constitute deficient performance or prejudice defendant so as to constitute ineffective assistance where the witnesses' testimony would have been cumulative. 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Therefore, the PCR court correctly found that Counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate or call potential witnesses to give testimony that would have been identical to Thomasina Goss's testimony.

The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to call Sharon Goss to testify about his purchase of the gun found in a car outside of the Petitioner's home. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Strickland 466 U.S. at 689.

Here, Counsel gave credible testimony that he was not aware of the substance of Sharon Goss's testimony despite Counsel's close relationship and consultation with Thomasina Goss, and that regardless, had he known of such testimony prior to trial he would likely have elicited such testimony from Thomasina Goss instead. Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to call a witness whose testimony he was never informed of. Therefore, the record supports the PCR court's finding that Counsel was not ineffective for not calling Sharon Goss to testify.

Moreover, the PCR court's finding that Counsel was never informed of the alibi defense prior to trial is supported by ample evidence in the record.

The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular, what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information. For example, when the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether.

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